## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### ETHEL THOMPSON SEIZER,

CASE NO.: SCOOP-165

Petitioner,

vs.

DAWN M. THOMAS,

Respondent.

### **INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS**

Scott Turner, Esq. Turner & Layman, LLC 700 S. Babcock Street, Suite 400 Melbourne, Florida 32901

-and-

Sharon Lee Stedman, Attorney at Law Cabalism Smith Toole & Wiggins, PL 485 North Keller Road, Suite 401 Maitland, Florida 32751 Attorneys for Appellant

## **

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Dawn M. Thomas, Plaintiff/Appellee, sued Ethel Thompson Sweitzer, Defendant/Appellant, on April 28, 2000. (R. 67-68). The Complaint alleged that on or about July 13, 1999, Sweitzer struck a vehicle that the Plaintiff, Thomas was operating. The Complaint further alleged that Thomas suffered injury to her right arm and shoulder in the collision and that her medical expenses to date exceed \$22,000.00.

Defendant, Sweitzer filed her Answer. (R. 69-72). The defendant alleged that despite requests that plaintiff do so, the plaintiff had refused or failed to provide documentation in support of her damages claims, and had failed or refused to sign authorizations so her medical records could be obtained on behalf of the defendant. The defendant was unable to respond to paragraph 6-9 of the Complaint.

The defendant denied, that the plaintiff sustained injury or injuries which met the "threshold" requirement of section 627.737, <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1999).

The defendant also set forth affirmative defenses for which the plaintiff never filed a reply. The defendant alleged as an affirmative defense that the plaintiff had a duty to mitigate her damages and that the recovery of the plaintiff, if any, should be reduced by a proportion or an amount equivalent to or reflecting any failure to mitigate damages. The defendant filed a request for the plaintiff to submit to a compulsory examination. (R. 118-119).

The plaintiff objected, and the defendant filed a Motion to Compel attendance at compulsory medical examination. (R. 120-122; 122-125). The plaintiff objected because the examination was scheduled to take place at Dr. Uricchio's office in Winter Park, Orange County, Florida, with the expense borne by the defendant. The plaintiff objected solely because examination was to take place outside the county of the plaintiff's residence.

The defendant, Ethel Thompson Sweitzer, resided in Indianapolis, Indiana area, and was 87 years of age. When she failed to attend a scheduled mediation, the plaintiff filed a Motion for Sanctions against her. She, however, attended the mediation by telephone from the office of Attorney John Morse, who practices in Indianapolis, Indiana and who also attended the entire mediation by telephone. (R. 147-154; 145-146).

Counsel for the plaintiff then filed a Supplemental Request to Produce requesting that Ms. Sweitzer produce all documents, writings, e-mail and the like of whatsoever nature pertained to the scope of employment of her testifying expert witness related to the case, among others. The plaintiff served the Supplemental Request to Produce on February 23, 2001. The plaintiff then filed her Second Supplemental Request to Produce requesting any and all investigation done on behalf of the defendant.

The defendant responded to the plaintiff's Second Supplemental Request to Produce stating that there were no such documents. (R. 191-192).

The defendant then responded to the plaintiff's Supplemental Request to Produce. (R. 183-216).

The defendant attached a copy of any and all correspondence from the defendant to Dr. Uricchio. In regard to Request to Produce 2, 3, and 4, the defendant objected on the grounds that the information sought was not available to the defendant and was available, if permissible, through the deposition testimony of Dr. Uricchio. The defendant objected to Supplemental Request to Produce number 2 and attached any and all correspondence to Dr. Uricchio, but, as to compensation, stated that it was handled by the defendant's insurance company. In response to Supplemental Request to Produce number 5, the defendant objected on the grounds that it sought the information is not available to the defendant, that the information was available, if permissible through deposition testimony of Dr. Uricchio, and that the information was irrelevant, immaterial and not calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence relying on Sykens v. Elkins. The defendant responded to Supplemental Request to Produce number 6 and number 7 by attaching the documents. The defendant filed her Response to Plaintiff's Supplemental Request to Produce on April 11, 2001.

The plaintiff then filed her trial interrogatories. (R. 227-237). Next, the plaintiff filed her expert interrogatories to the defendant. (R. 238-251). The defendant answered the trial interrogatories with objections on the grounds that the interrogatories exceeded the scope and number permissible interrogatories under the rules of civil procedure. (R. 236-237). The defendant filed her answers to the expert interrogatories by alleging that expert interrogatories 2 - A-F; 3 - A-D; 4; 5 - A-C; 6; 7 - A-D; 8; 9 - A-F; 10; 11 A-F; 12; 13; 14; by declaring that the same exceeded the scope and number permissible Interrogatories (R. 249-251).

The plaintiff filed Motions in Limine to preclude the defendant from explaining her absence in the event that she did not personally appear at trial. The plaintiff further requested that any reference that she was uncooperative in a compulsory medical examination with the defendant's expert because she chose not to completely fill out the patient information sheet, chose not to have an identification photograph taken by the expert, declined photographs showing the extent of her range of motion by the defendant's expert, and declined x-rays of the cervical spine, thoracic spine and right shoulder be excluded. The plaintiff also requested that any reference of psychological/psychiatric counseling of the plaintiff had in the past be excluded. (R. 185-187). All of the motions in limine were granted by the trial court. (Tr. Vol. 1, P. 36).

The plaintiff filed a motion to compel the responses to the request to produce, answers to interrogatories, or, in the alternative, a motion to strike expert witnesses. (R. 217-226). The trial court entered an order and granted the plaintiff's motion to compel responses to supplemental request to produce, numbers 2, 3 and 4. The order was entered on May 4, 2001, and required the responses by May 3, 2002.

The plaintiff's motion to compel response s to expert interrogatories 2 through 14 was granted over the defendants objection that the number exceeded 30 because of lateness of the defendant's response and customer usage of both expert in Trial Interrogatories. The defendant was also required to comply by May 3, 2002.

In the pre-trial hearing, the defense argued against the motion to compel by declaring that what was discoverable under the *Boucher* [*v. Allstate Ins. Co.*] case was not discoverable in the instant case because the instant case is a third party case. (Tr. Vol. 1, P. 11).

The trial court declared that it was reserving ruling on whether or not to strike Dr. Uricchio's opinion, to see how the compliance went and the relationship with State Farm, pending their compliance with his Order. (Tr. Vol. 1, P. 20). The plaintiff argued that they did not believe the defendant or their counsel or any of their witnesses should be able to discuss the fact that the defendant was old and potentially ill, and they did not know where she was. The argument continued that it was only an attempt to elicit sympathy. (Tr. Vol. 1, P. 20).

The defense argued that it was more prejudicial to not explain to the jury. The jury could get the impression that she did not come to trial because she was involved in a lawsuit. The defense wanted to explain that she was unable to attend for health reasons. (Tr. Vol. 1, P. 21). The defense argued that her health was poor, she had heart problems, she was 89 years old. That surely would not cause a problem for the plaintiff. (Tr. Vol. 1, P. 22-23).

The trial court ruled that the attorney could only say that she was not able to attend. (Tr. Vol. 1, P. 24).

Next, the plaintiff discussed their motion in limine requesting that defense counsel or any witness withhold any reference that the plaintiff was under a compulsory medical examination with the defense expert because Dr. Uricchio referenced in his report that she refused to completely fill out the patient information sheet. The plaintiff also declined x-rays of her neck, mid back or right shoulder. (Tr. Vol. 1, P.25-27). The defense argued that the x-rays were declined, history forms were not filled out, range of motion exercises were declined, as well as the

identification photograph. All of this was done at the direction of the plaintiff's attorney. (Tr. Vol. 1, P. 27-28)

The defense argued that while playing sports, the plaintiff fell, tore some ligaments in her wrist, and had to undergo physical therapy. The argument continued that Dr. Bittar, the plaintiff's expert witness, said that she had not done the physical therapy and that she may very well have required surgery. Dr. Bittar testified that the actual injury she suffered in the instant case was most consistent with someone involved in a sporting-type activity. Dr. Bittar said the wrist injury resolved, but there were two issues that were going to be made.

First, the defense had a mitigation of damages argument. After the instant incident, the plaintiff did not do all of the physical therapy, and, therefore, now she needs surgery. In the 1995 incident she fell, and interestingly, even though surgery was a suggestion, she did go to physical therapy, now she does not need the surgery.

Further, Dr. Uricchio would testify the mechanism of the injury and the fall was just as consistent with the mechanism of injury that allegedly caused the torn labrum which is in the shoulder in the instant incident. Both were consistent.

Dr. Bittar in his deposition could not tell how long the labrum had been torn, and agreed that the labrum could be a result of a sporting activity, the defense argued that it was very relevant and that it was something the jury was going to have to hear about and decide.

As to the plaintiff's headaches which she wanted evidence of excluded at trial, the plaintiff's own expert, Dr. Bittar, testified that a long-standing history of headaches was consistent with someone with shoulder injuries when you have a shoulder injury lap/shoulders, which she had, you're using the trapezes muscles. When you use those, you put stress on the occipital part of the back of the neck which causes headaches. Dr. Bittar agreed during his deposition that someone with a long-standing history of headaches is consistent with someone with a shoulder problem, so they were both very relevant to the instant case. (Tr. Vol. 1, P. 40-43).

The defense further argued that Dr. Desai, the first orthopaedist who saw her, did x-ray her wrist because there were complaints of wrist pain after the instant accident. The trial court reserved ruling on all of them. (Tr. Vol. 1, P. 46).

The trial court ultimately ruled that he was not going to allow Dr. Uricchio to talk about the fact that the plaintiff would not have the x-rays or refused to have a picture taken. (Tr. Vol. 1, P. 58).

After opening arguments, the plaintiff presented the videotaped deposition of Shekhar Desai, M.D. (Tr. Vol. at 219). The first time Dr. Desai saw the plaintiff was on July 23, 1999. She reported to Dr. Desai that she injured her right shoulder, her right forearm, and her right wrist. (Depo. at P. 10). Two x-rays were done of her shoulder and they were unremarkable. (Depo. at P. 13-14).

An MRI was done on her shoulder and there was a little bit of inflamation.

When Dr. Desai saw her on September 8, 1999, she was getting better, but her shoulder was still bothering her so Dr. Desai recommended she see Dr. Bittar. (Depo. at P. 19). At that time, Dr. Desai said that her shoulder was slowly but surely getting better. (Depo. at P. 20).

The MRI done on August 5, 1999 revealed that the muscles around the shoulder joint were normal in size and intensity. (Depo. at P. 27). The glenoid labrum was also in tact. (Depo. at P. 28). People that have congenitally lacks shoulders can have fluid in the joint without a traumatic event. (Depo. at P. 29).

The videotaped deposition of Dr. Bittar was published to the jury next. (Tr. Vol. 2 at 220). Dr. Bittar saw Ms. Thomas on September 9, 1999. Ms. Thomas reported that she was restrained with seatbelts when she as the driver of her own vehicle when she was struck by another vehicle. She had her hand on the gearshift, her right hand, and sustained an injury to her right upper extremity at the time of impact. (Depo. at P. 7). The MRI suggested that there was no tear of the rotator cuff or of the glenoid labrum. (Depo. at P. 10). The MRI was normal for Ms. Thomas. (Depo. at P. 11).

The plaintiff reported that she had no success with physical therapy. (Depo. at P. 16). Dr. Bittar stated that there was no question in his mind that her shoulder was loose prior to the accident; she had congenitally loose shoulder. (Depo. at P. 26).

Dr. Bittar thought that Ms. Thomas attended the physical therapy that he had prescribed, but had not restored her range of motion. (Depo. at P. 30-31).

Plaintiff's counsel asked Dr. Bittar if he had an opinion within a reasonable degree of medical probability as to the cause of Ms. Thomas' shoulder injury. Dr. Bittar thought that the shoulder problems were causally related to the motor vehicle accident. (Depo. at P. 34).

Next, the plaintiff's counsel asked Dr. Bittar if he had an opinion as to whether Ms. Thomas had a permanent injury as a result of the car wreck.

> "I think she has surgical scars. I think she will probably have some loss of range of motion, although it's minimal. And, I believe that she has restored functional range of motion. She still does have some loss of range of motion.

(Depo. at P. 35).

When Dr. Bittar saw the plaintiff back in 1995, Dr. Bittar indicated that if the plaintiff had not completed the physical therapy, or if the physical therapy didn't work, she could have actually needed a surgical procedure. (Depo. at P. 40). Dr. Bittar

began seeing the plaintiff in January of 1995, the plaintiff completed the physical therapy, in April of 1995 there was no need for the surgery. (Depo. at P. 41-42).

Being unable to write, having a difficult time writing, is not consistent with a torn labrum. (Depo. at P. 55-56). It would have to come from some sort of traumatic event, whether it be a javelin thrower, baseball player, or a car accident. (Depo. at P. 57).

Dr. Bittar stated that she probably had an impairment because of chronic pain, and probably has an impairment because of the surgical wounds. (Depo. at P. 60).

Because of her laxity in her left shoulder, it would be reasonably possible in the future that she may require the identical surgery on her left shoulder. (Depo. at P. 64).

Next, Gary Stern, a physical therapist seen by the plaintiff, testified. (Tr. Vol. 2 at 221). Mr. Stern was the therapist who worked with Ms. Thomas after she had her shoulder surgery. (Tr. Vol. 3 at 224). Mr. Stern was never made aware of the memo of 10/12/99 to Dr. Bittar from Advanced Physical Therapy indicating that she had demonstrated and reported consistent improvement and progression. (*Id.* at P. 233).

Next, Teresa Thomas, the plaintiff' mother testified. (*Id.* at P. 242). Theresa Thomas, Dawn Thomas' mother, testified for the plaintiff. (Tr. Vol. at 242).

Dawn Thomas testified next. (Id. at P. 268).

Prior to Dr. Uricchio testifying, defense counsel declared that they had been able to provide the plaintiff with a number of \$616,000.00. The problem, however, was that it was a 1099 and there was no breakdown as to whether it was for depositions, medical care and treatment, IME's, depositions involving IME's. (*Id.* at P. 344).

The defendant then called Bruce Wills, advance physical therapist. (*Id.* at P. 355). Mr. Wills treated Dawn Thomas when Dr. Bittar referred Ms. Thomas to Advanced Physical Therapy in September of 1999. (*Id.* at P. 356).

On each visit, the plaintiff had indicated she was feeling better overall and that she was steadily improving. (*Id.* at P. 362-364). She had a total of nine visits.

On 10/28/99 the Advanced Physical Therapy called to leave a message to get her to come to the appointment. There was no indication that she ever returned the phone call. Again, on 11/9/99 Advanced Physical Therapy left a message that she needed to return. (*Id.* at P. 365). She never returned the call. (*Id.* at p. 366).

Mr. Wills wrote a letter to Dr. Bittar on 10/12/99 reporting that Ms. Thomas was demonstrating and reporting to him consistent improvement and progression. Mr. Wills mentioned to Dr. Bittar that there were still plans to establish a ehabilitation program, but Ms. Thomas never returned except for the one visit she made from that point on. (*Id.* at P. 366-367).

Dr. Uricchio saw Dawn Thomas on March 12, 2001. At that time, he had no medical records. Dr. Uricchio testified that he never looked at records until he talked to the patient. (*Id.* at P. 380). Dr. Uricchio liked to get it directly from the patient rather than having the history retained in a run through somebody else's opinion. (*Id.* at P. 381). When Dr. Uricchio went through the medical records and reviewed the MRI, he agreed that it was benign. He did not see any sign of a torn rotator cuff or torn glenoid labrum. Genital laxity is not an unusual findings. It is fairly common. (*Id.* at P. 386). Dr. Uricchio reviewed the x-rays done both at the emergency room and by Dr. Desai a few weeks later. The x-rays were all within normal limits. (*Id.* at P. 388-389).

Dr. Uricchio found it difficult to reconcile the mechanism of injury allegedly caused by her hand on the gearshift to what was found in surgery. Therefore, he found it difficult to relate it specifically to the instant accident. (*Id.* at P. 395).

Defense counsel asked Dr. Uricchio a hypothetical question. "If hypothetically at the time of the incident Dawn Thomas' had was on the gearshift, we have a frontal impact, and hypothetically the arm goes back. Do you have an opinion as to the location of the tear of the labrum? (Tr. Vol. 3 at P. 427-428). Dr. Uricchio stated that you would anticipate that it would tear the posterior, the back part of the labrum. (*Id.* at P. 428). Ms. Thomas' front part of her labrum was injured. With a force driving

the. If someone is playing soccer and falls forward and someone falls on their arm, that is consistent with a posterior tear. (*Id.* at P. 430).

Next the plaintiff moved for a directed verdict on liability. (*Id.* at P. 447). The trial court reserved. (*Id.* at P. 452).

The defendant then moved for a directed verdict on lack of permanency and lack of any future economic damages. (*Id.* at P. 453).

The trial court denied both. (Id. at P. 459).

The plaintiff moved for directed verdict on the issue of mitigation of damages. (*Id.* at P. 459-460). The trial court ruled that mitigation of damages was fair game for the jury. (*Id.* at P. 462). However, the trial court refused to instruct the jury as to mitigation of damages. (*Id.* at P. 472-474).

Closing arguments followed.

In final closing argument, plaintiff's counsel argued that Mr. Turner went out and hired Dr. Uricchio, a doctor he has paid over the last  $3\frac{1}{2}$  years \$650,000.00 to testify that people aren't hurt. (*Id*.at P. 529).

The court then instructed the jury. (*Id.* at P. 535).

The jury returned a verdict finding that the damages sustained by Ms. Thomas for medical expenses and lost wages in the past to be \$30,640.68, the present value of any future damages for medical expenses is \$1,680.00; the amount of damages sustained by Dawn Thomas for physical impairment, disfigurement, and loss of capacity for the enjoyment of life in the past \$15,000.00 and in the future, \$10,000.00. (*Id.* at P. 548). Next, the jury determined that Dawn Thomas sustained a permanent injury and that she sustained \$15,000.00 for pain, suffering and inconvenience in the past and \$10,000.00 for pain, suffering and inconvenience in the future. (*Id.*) The total damages of Dawn Thomas was \$82,320.68. (*Id.* at P. 548-490).

The defendant timely appealed to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. (R.404-409). The fifth district held that none of the five (5) issues merited reversal; however, the court was of the opinion that the challenge to the jury instructions given by the trial court merited discussion. (Appendix). The court, after discussion, affirmed the trial court in all respects.

The defendant timely invoked the discretionary jurisdiction of this Honorable Court. The Court accepted jurisdiction and ordered the parties to file briefs on the merits.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Section 627.737(2), <u>Florida Statutes</u>, Florida's no-fault statute, requires that before a plaintiff can recover damages from a driver that is sufficiently secured by

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