IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ETHEL THOMPSON SWEITZER,	CASE NO. SC03-165
	5th DCA CASE NO. 5D02-34
Petitioner,	
VS.	
DAWN M. THOMAS.	
Respondent.	
RESPONDENT'S A	NSWER ON THE MERITS

JULIE H. LITTKY-RUBIN, ESQ.

Lytal, Reiter, Clark, Fountain & Williams, LLP
Post Office Box 4056
West Palm Beach, FL 33402-4056
Telephone: (561) 655-1990

Facsimile: (561) 832-2932

and

KARLA T. TORPY, ESQ. ROBERT M. MOLETTEIRE, ESQ.

Graham, Moletteire & Torpy, P.A. 10 Suntree Place Melbourne, FL 32940

Telephone: (321) 253-3405 Facsimile: (321) 242-6121 Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fifth District's opinion below in no way "expressly and directly" conflicts with decisions from its sister courts, and it is incredible to suggest otherwise. The Fifth District actually explicitly **agreed** with the rule of law articulated by the other districts, finding no non-economic damages are available to persons in automobile accident cases when the jury finds no permanent injury was suffered. Respectfully, plaintiff/respondent submits jurisdiction was improvidently granted.

Even if this Court finds jurisdiction were proper, a review of the issue demonstrates that the facts of this case were distinguishable. Because the jury found the plaintiff indeed suffered a permanent injury in this case, contrary to the finding made by the juries in the other cases, any error in the lower court's having given the non-standard jury instruction regarding non-economic damages was harmless, and this Court should affirm.

Finally, because the Fifth District summarily affirmed all of the other issues raised by the defendant below without any discussion, this Court should not in its discretion re-review those issues *de novo*. In the event this Court chooses to consider those issues however, plaintiff has responded to those arguments on the merits with arguments that are now buttressed by the Fifth District's ruling.

ARGUMENT - PART I

I. THIS COURT HAS ACCEPTED JURISDICTION IN A CASE WHERE THE DISTRICT COURT EXPRESSLY ALIGNED **ITSELF** WITH THE **PRECEDENT** ARTICULATED $\mathbf{B}\mathbf{Y}$ THE OTHER DISTRICTS, **SIMPLY AFFIRMING** THE TRIAL **COURT'S RULING** BASED ON DISTINGUISHABLE FACTS, AND THUS, WAS **FOR** NO **BASIS** THERE THIS HONORABLE **COURT** TO**ACCEPT** JURISDICTION BASED ON EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT.

In *Florida Power and Light Co. v. Bell*, 113 So. 2d 697, 699 (Fla. 1959), this Court explained that its primary function in the area of conflicts is to "stabilize the law by a review of decisions which form **patently irreconcilable precedents**" (Emphasis added). This Court has consistently reiterated that principle. *See, e.g., Nielsen v. City of Sarasota*, 117 So. 2d 731, 734 (Fla. 1960)(Acknowledging that one of the principle situations justifying the invocation of this Court's jurisdiction to review decisions of the courts of appeal based on alleged conflict, involves the application of a rule of law to produce a different result in a case involving almost the same controlling facts as a prior case disposed of by this Court); *Chrysler Corp. v. Wolmer*, 499 So. 2d 823, 827-829 (Fla. 1986)(Barkett, J., dissenting)(In dissent, Justice Barkett questioned whether jurisdiction existed because the case below did not involve the same controlling facts). As the *Nielsen* court wrote:

[T]he **controlling facts become vital** and our jurisdiction may be asserted only where the court of appeal has applied a recognized rule of law to reach a conflicting conclusion in a case involving **substantially the same controlling facts** as were involved in allegedly conflicting prior decisions of this Court.

Nielsen, 117 So. 2d at 734 (Emphasis added).

In this case, the Fifth District **explicitly agreed** with the rule of law articulated by the courts in *Loring v. Winters*, 802 So. 2d 335 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2001), *Gill v. McGuire*, 806 So. 2d 629 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002) and *Giles v. Luckie*, 816 So. 2d 248 (Fla. 1st DCA), *rev. dismissed*, 832 So. 2d 104 (Fla. 2002), which all held that an injured plaintiff cannot collect non-economic damages unless she meets the threshold permanent injury requirements of \$627.737(2). *Sweitzer*, 834 So. 2d at 284. Because the jury in this case did indeed find that the plaintiff met the threshold, and suffered a permanent injury, the court found she was entitled to recover all of her non-economic damages recoverable under the common law. Therefore, while the Fifth District agreed with the rule of law articulated by its sister courts, it simply did not believe the rule applied under the facts of **this** case.

Respectfully, plaintiff/respondent is uncertain as to why this Court accepted jurisdiction in the face of the Fifth District's clear agreement with prior precedent. Here, the controlling facts are materially different, and there can be no "express and

direct conflict" with the decisions of the other district courts. As plaintiff/respondent emphatically asserted in her jurisdictional brief, it is incongruous for the petitioner to argue otherwise. There is simply no "express and direct conflict" for this Court to resolve. As such, plaintiff respectfully asks this Court to vacate its original October 27, 2003 order accepting jurisdiction.

II. ASSUMING THAT THIS COURT STANDS BY ITS DECISION ACCEPTING JURISDICTION OF THIS CASE, ANY ERROR IN THE TRIAL COURT'S HAVING GIVEN THE NON-STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTION REGARDING NON-ECONOMIC DAMAGES WAS HARMLESS IN LIGHT OF THE JURY'S FINDING OF PERMANENCY.

After the jury reached its verdict in this case, two decisions came out which held that non-economic damages may not be awarded to a plaintiff unless the permanency threshold set forth in the PIP statute is met. *See, Loring v. Winters*, 802 So. 2d 335 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2001) and *Smiley v. Nelson*, 805 So. 2d 870 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2001). Shortly thereafter, both the Fourth and First Districts ruled similarly. *See, Gill v. McGuire*, 806 So. 2d 629 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002) and *Giles v. Luckie*, 816 So. 2d 248 (Fla. 1st DCA), *rev. dismissed*, 832 So. 2d 104 (Fla. 2002).

When the Fifth District addressed this legal issue in this case, it explicitly endorsed the decisions in *Loring*, *Gill*, and *Giles*. *See*, *Sweitzer v. Thomas*, 834 So.

2d 283, 284 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002). The court below acknowledged that the trial court did not have the guidance of the subsequently published decisions of the other district courts, then discussed those decisions, and expressly concluded: "**We agree with this interpretation**," explicitly agreeing with the rulings made by the *Loring*, *Gill* and *Giles* courts².

Once the Fifth District voiced its agreement with the principle of law currently before this Honorable Court, it then importantly held:

Therefore, we conclude in the absence of a threshold injury, as defined in §627.737(2), there can be no recovery for any non-economic damages. Conversely, in cases involving a threshold injury, the plaintiff may recover all non-economic damages recoverable under common law. Accordingly, because the jury in this case found that appellee did sustain a permanent injury, she was entitled to recover all of her non-economic damages, and the challenged instruction did not result in harm to appellant. *Id.* at 285.

As the Fifth District found, any error in giving this instruction was clearly harmless.

In this case, while the jury was allowed to assess intangible damages in a piecemeal fashion on two different lines on the verdict form, there was no overlap of

²Once the Fifth District aligned itself with the decisions of the First, Second, and Fourth Districts, instead of creating conflict, it actually created harmony. In the undersigned's humble opinion, jurisdiction would only be appropriate before this Court on this issue if the Third District--the only district not to have addressed this issue--decided in a manner which conflicted with the decisions of all the other district courts.

damages in its award. On the first line where intangible damages were addressed, the jury awarded \$15,000 in the past and \$10,000 in the future for "physical impairment, disfigurement and loss of capacity for the enjoyment of life" (T 548). It was then asked to assess damages for "pain, suffering and inconvenience," where the jury awarded an additional \$15,000 in the past and \$10,000 in the future (T 548).

While defendant has attempted to use the coincidence of the numbers to suggest that the jury intended to award \$15,000 in the past and \$10,000 in the future as a total for these intangible damages, there is simply no evidence in the record to support any nefarious basis for the coincidence. Plaintiff reminds this court that in closing argument, her attorneys asked the jury for a total of \$150,000 for the "human," (i.e., non-economic) damages (T 498). The \$50,000 ultimately awarded was obviously only a fraction of this amount; i.e., one third of what was sought.

Further buttressing the jury's full understanding of the instructions and intent to award a total of \$50,000 in human damages, was its award for almost the full amount of economic damages plaintiff sought (T 548).³ The jury obviously believed the plaintiff's position to be credible and worthy of its award. It awarded Ms. Thomas almost her full amount requested for economic damages, and simply broke down its

³The jury awarded \$30,640.68 in economic damages which was approximately \$5,000 less than what was asked for by plaintiff's counsel.

amounts on the verdict form. While it was admittedly error for the jury to have two lines in which to assess these non-economic damages on the verdict form, it is obvious that the error in this case was harmless pursuant to §59.041, as the Fifth District found⁴.

III. EVEN IF THIS COURT **BELIEVES** "EXPRESS AND DIRECT" **CONFLICT** EXISTS TO SUPPORT JURISDICTION OF THE QUESTION BEFORE THE COURT, IT LACKS JURISDICTION TO CONSIDER THE OTHER ISSUES RAISED BELOW WHERE FIFTH DISTRICT SUMMARILY AFFIRMED WITHOUT ANY DISCUSSION.

As this Court stated in *Savoie v. State*, 422 So. 2d 308, 312 (Fla. 1982), once this Court accepts jurisdiction of a cause, it has jurisdiction to consider all issues appropriately raised in the appellate process, as though the case had originally come to the court on appeal. However, the authority to consider such issues other than those upon which jurisdiction was based is discretionary with this Court, and should be exercised only when those issues have been properly briefed and argued, and are **dispositive of the case**. *Id.* (Emphasis added). In *Savona v. Prudential Insurance*

⁴This error certainly did not result in a "miscarriage of justice." Further, the plain language of the statute requires that harmless error be "liberally construed."

Co. of America, 648 So. 2d 705, 707 (Fla. 1995), this Court refused to conduct a de novo review of a claim the defendant had raised, because the argument had been rejected without discussion by both the federal district court and the circuit court. As this Court explained:

In particular, Prudential alleges that Savona's insurance policy was an employee benefit plan as defined in 29 USC §1002(1) and, therefore, should be regulated by ERISA rather than Florida law. However, neither the federal district court nor circuit court addressed this issue, and we decline to address it in this proceeding. We have held that we have the authority to consider issues other than those upon which jurisdiction is based, but this authority is discretionary and should be exercised only when these other issues have been properly briefed and argued, and are dispositive of the case. Savoie v. State, 422 So. 2d 308 (Fla. 1982). Such is not the case here, and we, therefore, limit our review to the certified question. *Id.* at 707 (Emphasis added).

In *Gandy v. State*, 846 So. 2d 1141 (Fla. 2003), this Court recently held that its jurisdiction extends only to a narrow class of cases enumerated in the Constitution, and that it lacks jurisdiction to review per curiam decisions of district courts of appeal that merely affirm with citations to cases not pending before it. *Id.* at 1143-1144. This Court admonished that a district court decision must contain some statement, indicating that it has expressly addressed a question of law in the four corners of the opinion itself, which could hypothetically create conflict if there were another opinion

reaching a contrary result, for this Court to have subject matter jurisdiction. Citing to its other recent decision in *Stallworth v. Moore*, 827 So. 2d 974 (Fla. 2002), where the court discussed jurisdictional jurisprudence relative to per curiam affirmances without written opinions, ultimately holding that it lacks discretionary jurisdiction to review such decisions, this Court expressed its belief in the constitutional limitation that only those decisions which expressly "address a question of law within the four corners of opinion itself" should serve as a basis for jurisdiction. *Id.* at 1145.

While this case is neither a per curiam affirmance nor a per curiam affirmance with citation, it is important for this Court to remember how Fifth District's opinion began:

This appeal of a final judgment arises from appellee's negligence action for injuries sustained in an automobile accident. **None of appellant's five issues on appeal merit reversal**; however, appellant's challenge to the jury instructions given by the trial court, and the damages awarded pursuant to those instructions, **merit discussion**. *Sweitzer v. Thomas*, 834 So. 2d 283, 283 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002)(Emphasis added).

The Fifth District's summary dismissal of the other issues raised on appeal is analogous to a per curiam affirmance, in that there is no discussion of the facts of the case nor any expressly addressed question of law found within the opinion's four corners on those issues.

In light of this defendant's attempt to have this Court simply re-review the identical brief she filed before the Fifth District, this Court may wish to remember the dissent in *Foley v. Weaver Drugs, Inc.*, 177 So. 2d 221 (Fla. 1965), where Justice Thornal sought to enforce the amendment made to Article 5 of our State Constitution, limiting this Court's discretionary review⁵. Justice Thornal's palpable despair emphasizes why this Court should not review any of the other issues raised by the defendant in this appeal, because as Justice Thornal explained:

All of this simply means that the district court decisions are *no longer final* under any circumstances. It appears to me that the majority view is an open invitation to every litigant who loses in the District Court, to come on up to the Supreme Court and be granted a second appeal--the very thing that many feared would happen--and the very thing which we assure the people of this State would *not* happen when the judiciary article was amended in 1956.

* * *

I would never again accept with finality a decision of the District Court. Under the majority decision today, there is always that potential opportunity to obtain another examination of the record by the Supreme Court with the hope that it will in someway differ with the District Court. *Id.* at 234 (Thornal, J., dissenting)(Emphasis in original).

⁵If this Court reviews defendant's brief filed in the Fifth District Court of Appeal and her brief filed here, it will see that the two are <u>identical</u>, with the only exception being that in her brief before this Court, defendant incorporate the procedural aspects of what occurred below on page 15 of her Statement of the Case and Facts.

Notwithstanding this Court's ultimate decision about whether it does have jurisdiction to review a case where all of the district courts agree on the applicable principle of law, but one court distinguishes the facts of the case, there is simply no basis for this Court, even in its discretion, to accept any further review of the remaining issues which were summarily affirmed by the Fifth District below.

ARGUMENT - PART II

The defendant's filing of her identical brief filed in the Fifth District below, painfully illustrates defendant's unabashed attempt for a second *de novo* review, and should not be tolerated. However, in the event that this Court is inclined to review those merits, plaintiff furnishes this Court with her response to the other arguments on the merits that she too filed below.

I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL BASED UPON HER PRIOR MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT WHEN THE RECORD CLEARLY CONTAINED EXPERT MEDICAL TESTIMONY THAT PLAINTIFF SUFFERED A PERMANENT INJURY.

§627.737(2) provides in pertinent part:

In any action of tort...a plaintiff may recover damages in tort for pain, suffering, mental anguish, and inconvenience because of bodily injury, sickness, or disease arising out of the ownership, maintenance, operation, or use of such motor vehicle only in the event that the injury or disease consists in whole or in part of:

- (b) Permanent injury within a reasonable degree of medical probability, other than scarring or disfigurement.
- (c) Significant and permanent scarring or disfigurement.

According to this court in *Cecile Resort, Ltd. v. Hokanson*, 729 So. 2d 446 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999), in considering a motion for directed verdict by the defendant, a trial court must evaluate testimony in a light most favorable to the plaintiff, deducing every reasonable inference from the evidence in the plaintiff's favor. *Id.* at 447. This court then applies that same standard for review on appeal. *Id.*

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